I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND BACKGROUND:

A. THE UNDERLYING FACTS.

Petitioner, Fairmont Tool, Inc. ("Fairmont Tool"), is a West Virginia company providing services to the oil and gas industry, including tooling of drill pipe and casing and field inspections

at client well pads. Fluctuating with market demands, Fairmont Tool employs approximately 75-120 local residents in these skilled labor positions.²

Fairmont Tool advanced money and the cash equivalent to Respondent, Adam J. Davis ("Davis"), a former employee of Fairmont Tool, for personal purchases. Davis was provided a company credit card because he drove a truck to customer locations.³ Davis understood the company credit card was only to be used for items related to the maintenance of the truck he was driving⁴ and not for personal purchases, such as food.⁵ Nevertheless, he admitted to using it to purchase CB radio equipment for his personal vehicle,⁶ a personal lunch,⁷ and meals for himself and his family on a couple of occasions.⁸ Davis further obtained a bag of calcium chloride and a winter coat purchased on company accounts for his personal use.⁹

Even though Fairmont Tool provided employees with a \$120 allowance for the purchase of safety boots, Davis also took advantage of a Fairmont Tool vendor account (with its 10% discount rate) to obtain more expensive boots for himself out of personal preference, an additional winter pair of boots, as well as a pair for his son's personal use. ¹⁰ Finally, even though Fairmont Tool provided him with a fire retardant uniform to wear while on client well pads (free of charge), Davis elected to obtain a rental uniform from a third-party vendor. ¹¹ Set up by another Fairmont Tool employee (and class member), Fairmont Tool paid the bulk of the costs of the optional rental

¹ AR562-63.

² AR1764.

AR1786. Plaintiff was the only class member deposed in this matter.

⁴ *Id.*

⁵ AR1789.

⁶ AR1788-89.

⁷ AR1789.

⁸ AR1791.

⁹ AR1791-92.

AR1787, 1790, 1792-93.

¹¹ AR1793-94.

uniforms with employees choosing to use the third-party service contributing just \$9 per week.¹² Davis understood and agreed to pay a share of the costs of that optional service.¹³ He was not charged interest on the money advanced¹⁴ and agreed to reimburse Fairmont Tool for these advances.¹⁵ He chose to pay the advanced amounts back to Fairmont Tool through agreed upon payroll deductions.¹⁶

Davis resigned his employment with Fairmont Tool, effective January 3, 2017.¹⁷ When he left employment, Davis kept the personal items purchased with Fairmont Tool money.¹⁸ Davis had an \$18.00 fee deducted from his final paycheck, which represented the uniform rental and cleaning service Fairmont Tool advanced for Davis during the prior pay period.¹⁹

Fairmont Tool provided the \$120 yearly allowance for metatarsal safety boots to all employees and the optional rental uniform service for those employees wishing to avoid ruin their own clothes and washing machines. ²⁰ The optional uniforms are supplied and laundered by an independent third-party vendor. ²¹ Each employee participating in the service contributed \$9.00 per week (or \$18.00 per 2-week pay period) and Fairmont Tool covered the remainder of the costs. ²² The uniform service and policy (including the employee reimbursement amounts) was devised by a Fairmont Tool employee and member of the Class certified in this action. ²³ Fairmont Tool had

¹² AR2438-39.

¹³ AR1794.

¹⁴ AR1797; AR1766.

¹⁵ AR1789-90.

¹⁶ AR1789-91.

¹⁷ AR1777; AR1795; AR1797.

¹⁸ AR1797.

¹⁹ AR1969-72.

²⁰ AR1777-78.

²¹ AR1778.

²² AR1777.

²³ AR2438-39.

no ownership or other relationship with any of the third-party vendors, other than as a customer.²⁴ Fairmont Tool does not seek to collect amounts due and owing from an employee who separates from employment before reimbursing the company for the advances.²⁵

B. THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

On May 31, 2017, Davis filed the complaint in the instant action alleging two (2) claims. In Count I, Davis claimed some 80 hours in vacation, for which he was entitled to compensation at his separation, along with liquidated damages pursuant to W. VA. CODE § 21-5-4.²⁶ In Count II, Plaintiff alleges a claim on his own behalf and as a class representative for current and former employees of Fairmont Tool.²⁷

The essence of the latter claim is that Fairmont Tool violated the wage assignment provision (Section 21-5-3(e)) of the WPCA when the company recouped (via payroll deductions) advances made on behalf of Davis and the putative class members for personal purchases on company credit cards and company credit accounts with outside vendors, including safety boots and uniform rentals.²⁸ Along with the request for reimbursement of all sums deducted in this regard, Plaintiff sought liquidated damages under the West Virginia Code Section 21-5-4(e), attorney fees and costs.²⁹

After Fairmont Tool answered the complaint, ³⁰ the trial court scheduled the case for trial during the June 2018 term of court. ³¹ Fairmont Tool filed a motion to dismiss or in the alternative

²⁴ *Id.*

²⁵ AR1767-68.

AR24. This claim was settled and dismissed by stipulation on December 22, 2017. AR40.

AR25.

²⁸ *Id.*

²⁹ *Id.*

³⁰ AR27.

³¹ AR37.

motion for summary judgment as to the remaining claim on January 29, 2018,³² to which Davis responded on February 13, 2018.³³ The parties then jointly proposed a revision to the pretrial schedule to extend the deadline for Davis to disclose expert witnesses to April 23, 2018, which amendment was adopted by the trial court on April 4, 2018.³⁴

On the eve of the April 23, 2018 deadline for his disclosure of expert witnesses, Davis proposed a set of stipulations premised upon the suggestion that the parties would jointly save the expense of retaining and presenting expert testimony on damages.³⁵ On April 25, 2018, the "Parties' First Set of Stipulations" was filed with the trial court.³⁶ The next day Davis filed his Motion for Class Certification, citing the stipulations and asserting that "[i]f the class prevails on the merits, the damages are easily quantifiable for the class members under the WPCA."

Fairmont Tool filed a stipulation of substitution of counsel, ³⁸ which was approved by Order entered May 2, 2018. ³⁹ On May 3, 2018, Fairmont Tool moved the trial court to amend the scheduling order to address the requirements of Rule 23 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. ⁴⁰ Notably, just eight (8) days after the filing of the stipulations, Fairmont Tool also moved to withdraw from and/or rescind the "Parties' First Set of Stipulations." ⁴¹

³² AR42.

³³ A R 57

AR115. The parties then jointly moved to extend the discovery deadline to permit Davis additional time to depose the President of Fairmont Tool, which amendment was adopted by the trial court on April 25, 2018. AR119.

³⁵ AR3199-AR3200.

³⁶ AR123.

³⁷ AR127.

³⁸ AR291.

³⁹ AR294.

AR295. Fairmont Tool further sought leave for the motion to be heard on May 7, 2018. AR321.

⁴¹ AR304.

On May 7, 2018, the trial court heard arguments on Davis' Motion for Class Certification and Fairmont Tool's Motion to Stay and Amend Scheduling Order. ⁴² In addition to urging the trial court to consider the pending dispositive motion on liability, ⁴³ Fairmont Tool raised questions regarding the lack of commonality/typicality and adequacy, given Davis' status as a former employee arguably entitled to different remedies under his theory of the case than the current employees he sought to represent in the putative class definition. ⁴⁴ Fairmont Tool also raised the fact that discovery had not yet concluded. ⁴⁵

On May 16, 2018, while the trial court considered the foregoing, Davis filed his own Motion for Summary Judgment, ⁴⁶ along with a motion to continue the hearing on Fairmont Tool's dispositive motion ⁴⁷ (then set for May 22, 2018). ⁴⁸ Eschewing any pretense of trying the case during the June 2018 Term of Court, Davis' motion to defer ruling on the dispositive motion sought approval of a class notice with an opt-out date to be established, ⁴⁹ the very time-consuming issues Fairmont Tool raised in its Motion to Stay.

On May 17, 2018, the trial court continued the hearings on both parties' dispositive motions generally. ⁵⁰ That same day, Fairmont Tool filed its response in opposition to the Motion for Class

⁴² AR324.

AR336-AR337. Fairmont Tool's Motion for Summary Judgment had yet to be decided by this time.

⁴⁴ AR336.

⁴⁵: AR339.

⁴⁶ AR346.

⁴⁷ AR536.

⁴⁸ AR541.

⁴⁹ AR536.

⁵⁰ AR541.

Certification.⁵¹ The parties filed their respective trial exhibit disclosures,⁵² the pretrial schedule was modified⁵³ and Davis filed his reply in support of class certification.⁵⁴

By Order entered June 5, 2018,⁵⁵ the Circuit Court of Marion County conditionally certified the following class of individual employees, current and former, which was modified by Agreed Order entered July 2, 2018:

For the period from July 1, 2012, through July 31, 2017: All persons currently and/or formerly employed by Defendant Fairmont Tool, Inc. in West Virginia who are not shareholders of Fairmont Tool, Inc. and who had their wages owed by Fairmont Tool, Inc. reduced by Fairmont Tool, Inc. relative to uniforms, model uniforms, and/or purchases categorized by Fairmont Tool, Inc. as MDSE, inclusive of, but not limited to, the purchase of boots and tools.⁵⁶

However, the trial court explicitly stated that "[t]his order is conditional and may be altered or amended by the Court before the decision on the merits pursuant to Rule 23(c)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure."⁵⁷ The trial court continued the case to the October 2018 Term of Court. ⁵⁸

In a sworn deposition taken the day before the trial court conditionally certified a class, Davis repudiated his agreement to reimburse Fairmont Tool for monies advanced on his behalf (as well as repudiating any such agreement on behalf of the class). ⁵⁹ Accordingly, on June 22, 2018, Fairmont Tool moved to amend its Answer to assert the defenses of anticipatory breach, repudiation, unclean hands, and setoff, as well as a counterclaim for breach of contract and/or

⁵¹ AR543.

⁵² AR596; AR600.

⁵³ AR605.

⁵⁴ AR607.

⁵⁵ AR671.

⁵⁶ AR787.

⁵⁷ AR677.

⁵⁸ AR678.

⁵⁹ AR708.

unjust enrichment.⁶⁰ Just before midnight that night, Davis moved for leave to amend his complaint to add Nathan Kincaid, the President of Fairmont Tool, as a party defendant.⁶¹ Fairmont Tool then moved to decertify the class based upon the newly secured testimony of Plaintiff Davis.⁶²

On August 6, 2018, the parties filed the witness disclosures required by the pretrial scheduling order for the October Term of Court.⁶³ Citing Fairmont Tool's motion to "rescind certain stipulations that were entered into by agreement of the parties' respective counsel at that time in lieu of Plaintiff Adam J. Davis retaining an economist," Davis also filed a Reservation of Right to disclose an expert economist.⁶⁴

After the parties filed responses thereto, ⁶⁵ the trial court held a hearing on August 17, 2018 with respect to the pending motions. ⁶⁶ During the hearing, counsel for Davis and the now certified Class confirmed that the primary impetus behind the "Parties' First Set of Stipulations" was to save the expense of retaining expert witnesses to testify about damages in what was likely to be a fee-shifting situation. ⁶⁷ Counsel specifically asked for relief in the form of time to disclose an expert, should the trial court grant Fairmont Tool's motion to rescind the same. ⁶⁸ By letter dated August 28, 2018, the trial court announced and summarized its rulings and directed counsel to prepare certain orders. ⁶⁹ The trial court denied Fairmont Tool's motion to decertify and Davis'

⁶⁰ AR682.

⁶¹ AR727.

⁶² AR795.

⁶³ AR835; AR838.

⁶⁴ AR841.

Davis filed written responses to Fairmont Tool's motion to withdraw from and/or rescind the stipulations, AR871, motion to decertify, AR843, and motion to amend. AR907. For its part, Fairmont Tool responded to Davis' motion to amend complaint, AR924, and motion to approve notice to class. AR915.

⁶ AR964.

⁶⁷ AR1024-25.

⁶⁸ AR1024.

⁶⁹ AR1032-33.

motion to amend to add Kincaid as a party defendant.⁷⁰ The trial court granted Fairmont Tool's motion to amend answer and add counterclaim and Davis' motion to approve class notice.⁷¹ Finally, the trial court denied Fairmont Tool's motion to withdraw/rescind the stipulations "with the understanding that the Court reserves the right properly to instruct the finder of fact on the law applicable to the facts of the case."⁷² Counsel submitted notices and proposed orders reflecting the respective favorable rulings on October 1, 2018.⁷³ And opposing counsel responded with their respective objections.⁷⁴ The trial court entered the orders as submitted by counsel.⁷⁵

The case was continued to the February 2019 Term of Court.⁷⁶ And, the notice to the class was modified to permit opt-outs to be postmarked by December 31, 2018.⁷⁷

On October 25, 2018, Fairmont Tool filed its Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim.⁷⁸ After the parties stipulated to an extension of time,⁷⁹ Davis filed a Motion to Dismiss the counterclaim on November 12, 2018,⁸⁰ quickly followed by the appearance and appointment of co-counsel for Plaintiff Davis and the Class.⁸¹ A hearing was held on the motion to dismiss on November 28, 2018,⁸² with the trial court taking the matter under advisement.⁸³

⁷⁰ *Id*.

⁷¹ *Id.*

⁷² AR1033.

⁷³ AR1034-71.

⁷⁴ AR1076-1104.

⁷⁵ AR1105-66.

⁷⁶ AR1072.

⁷⁷ AR1185.

⁷⁸: AR1167.

⁷⁹ AR1184.

⁸⁰ AR1189.

AR1203-08; AR1220-23.

⁸² AR1224.

⁸³ AR1252.

On December 7, 2018, despite having prevailed in his opposition to Fairmont Tool's attempt to withdraw from the stipulations, Davis disclosed an expert economist.⁸⁴ The case was continued to the June 2019 Term of Court.⁸⁵

In April and May of 2019, the parties filed more briefs on the dispositive motions. ⁸⁶ The court held a hearing on the respective dispositive motions on May 9, 2019, ⁸⁷ issuing a letter dated May 13, 2019 summarizing the court's rulings. ⁸⁸ In short, the trial court granted Davis' dispositive motions as to both Count II and the counterclaim and, therefore, denied Fairmont Tool's dispositive motion. ⁸⁹ The trial court directed counsel for plaintiff to prepare an order reflecting the rulings. ⁹⁰ Counsel for Davis submitted a proposed order ⁹¹ to which Fairmont Tool objected. ⁹² The trial court then entered the Order Resolving the Parties' Motions for Summary Judgment (as submitted by counsel for Davis) on June 21, 2019. ⁹³ The trial court found that prior precedent "make it very clear that these types of transaction – for Plaintiff and all other class member – fall within the WPCA's wage-assignment provision." ⁹⁴ The Circuit Court suggested the holding in *Rotruck v. Smith*, No. 14-1284, 2016 WL 547190 (W. Va. Feb. 10, 2016) was in conflict with the published decision in *Clendenin Lumber & Supply Co., Inc. v. Carpenter*, 172 W. Va. 375, 305

⁸⁴ AR1255.

⁸⁵ AR1271; AR1282.

Davis filed an "Updated" motion for summary judgment as to Count II of the Complaint, AR1286, as well as a motion for summary judgment on Fairmont Tool's counterclaims, AR 1454, and an "Amended" response to Fairmont Tool's dispositive motion as to Count II. AR 1481. Fairmont Tool filed a reply in support of its dispositive motion, AR 1647, as well as responses to Davis' updated and amended brief. AR1708; AR1741.

⁸⁷ AR1804.

⁸⁸ AR1848.

⁸⁹ *Id.*

⁹⁰ *Id*.

⁹¹ AR1874.

⁹² AR1907.

⁹³ AR1946.

⁹⁴ AR1956-57.

S.E.2d 332 (1983)⁹⁵ and was distinguishable.⁹⁶ Finally, the trial court alternative concluded that, even if status as a creditor were required, it would find Fairmont Tool a creditor under the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act.⁹⁷ With respect to Fairmont Tool's counterclaim, the trial court held that any agreements were "illegal contract[s]" in that they failed to comply with W. VA. CODE § 21-5-3(e).⁹⁸ The trial court also reasoned that such agreements may not be enforced pursuant to W. VA. CODE § 21-5-10.⁹⁹

On May 28, 2019, the parties appeared before the Court ostensibly to address evidentiary motions. ¹⁰⁰ Fairmont Tool again raised the issue of the enforceability of the stipulations ¹⁰¹ and requested clarification of the trial court's ruling as to the counterclaim. ¹⁰² The parties agreed to proceed to a bench trial on the issue of damages ¹⁰³ and a briefing schedule was set. ¹⁰⁴

On June 27, 2019, the parties submitted their respective dispositive motions as to damages. On July 29, 2019, each side filed their respective responses. On August 9, 2019, Fairmont Tool also filed a Re-Notice of Withdrawal From the Parties' First Set of Stipulations and Motion to Reconsider, to which Davis responded.

⁹⁵ Id., citing, In re Involuntary Hospitalization of T.O., 238 W. Va. 455, 796 S.E.2d 564, 573 (2017).

⁹⁶ AR1958.

⁹⁷ AR1960.

⁹⁸ AR1961.

⁹⁹ AR1962.

¹⁰⁰, AR1851.

AR1856-59.

¹⁰² AR1854-55.

¹⁰³ AR1868.

¹⁰⁴ AR1870.

Davis submitted his Motion for Summary Judgment Regarding Damages (with exhibits). AR1994. Fairmont Tool submitted a competing Motion for Summary Judgment Regarding Plaintiff's Claim For Damages, Including Credits (with exhibits). AR2410.

AR3122; AR3138.

¹⁰⁷ AR3283.

¹⁰⁸ AR3388.

By letter dated September 12, 2019, the Circuit Court announced its decisions, overruling Fairmont Tool's Re-Notice and Motion to Reconsider and granting Davis' Motion for Summary Judgment, declining a setoff of any kind for Fairmont Tool. 109 The trial court again directed counsel for Davis to submit a proposed order and left the issue of attorney fees and costs to be addressed upon receipt of the anticipated motion. 110 Fairmont Tool filed its objections to the proposed order¹¹¹ and Davis responded.¹¹² On November 7, 2019, the trial court entered the Judgment Order (as proposed by counsel for Davis), including an award of \$87,731.00 as the base amount of wage reductions and an award of \$237,997.00 in liquidated damages. 113 The total amount awarded was \$325,728.00, plus prejudgment interest at 7.00% per annum and postjudgment interest at 5.50% per annum. 114

After an agreed upon extension of time for submission of his request for attorney fees and costs, ¹¹⁵ Davis submitted his Motion for Recovery of Reasonable Attorney Fees, Litigation Costs, and Class Representative Award on December 19, 2019. 116 A briefing schedule was ordered. 117 Fairmont Tool filed its Response in Opposition. ¹¹⁸ Davis then filed his Reply in Further Support. ¹¹⁹ By letter dated April 30, 2020, the Circuit Court announced its decision that the April 25, 2018 stipulation and W. VA. CODE § 21-5-12 permitted Davis to recover reasonable attorney fees and costs from Fairmont Tool. 120 With the exception of the "customary" fee, the trial court determined

¹⁰⁹

AR3431-33.

¹¹⁰ AR3433.

¹¹¹ AR3434.

¹¹² AR3451.

¹¹³ AR3475.

¹¹⁴ AR3478.

¹¹⁵ AR3480. 116

AR3486. 117

AR3611.

AR3615. 119 AR3567.

¹²⁰ AR3889.

all twelve factors from *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Pitrolo*, 176 W.Va. 190, 342 S.E.2d 156 (1986) suggested that the motion should be granted. ¹²¹ The trial court reduced the fee request to \$350.00 per hour for attorneys and \$150.00 per hour for paralegal time and directed counsel for Davis to submit order granting the motion with the figures re-calculated accordingly. ¹²² Fairmont Tool filed its TCR 24.01 objections ¹²³ and the trial court entered the order (as proposed by counsel for Davis) on July 2, 2020, awarding Davis and the Class \$160,000.00 in attorneys' fees, \$21,518.14 in litigation costs, and \$5,000.00 to Davis as a service award. ¹²⁴

Davis then submitted a proposed Final Judgment Order, ¹²⁵ which was entered by the Circuit Court on August 3, 2020. ¹²⁶

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT:

The Circuit Court effectively ignored this Court's decision in *Rotruck v. Smith*, 2016 W.Va. LEXIS 69 (W. Va., Feb. 10, 2016) (memorandum decision). Just like the insurance company employer in *Rotruck*, Fairmont Tool provided Plaintiff Davis and the other Class members its purchasing power to obtain items of their own choosing. Using this cash equivalent, Davis admittedly purchasing boots and meals for his family, as well as a CB radio for his personal vehicle. He further admittedly chose to obtain rental uniforms (though free ones were provided by the company) and agreed to reimburse Fairmont Tool for all of these uniquely personal items. Pursuant to this Court's jurisprudence on the issue, as set forth and explained in *Rotruck*. the transactions in this case were not an "assignment of earnings" under West Virginia Code Section

^{121.} *Id.*

¹²²1 *Id*.

¹²³ AR3890.

¹²⁴ AR3923.

¹²⁵ AR3961

AR3964. The Clerk of the Circuit Court then entered Taxation of Costs on August 5, 2020. AR3972.

21-5-3(e) and the Circuit Court erred in ruling to the contrary and awarding Plaintiff and the class damages for the amounts recovered by Fairmont Tool in this respect.

The Circuit Court compounded the problem when it also erroneously awarded liquidated damages to current and former employees alike for the alleged affronts to Section 21-5-3(e). The West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act has but one reference to liquidated damages, W. VA. CODE § 21-5-4(e), a provision that is expressly limited to the failure to remit wages due where an employee is discharged, quits or resigns. Though this Court has yet to address the issue, WPCA does not refer to or in any way suggest a relation Sections 21-5-3(e) and 21-5-4(e). Simply put, the WPCA does not provide a multiplier for liquidated damages with regard to an alleged violation of Section 21-5-3(e) and the Circuit Court's conclusion in this regard was clearly and prejudicially erroneous.

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