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

This Court considered whether the employment agreement in *Clendenin* was an assignment of earnings under the CCPA and was, therefore, subject to the requirements of the WPCA, W. Va.

Code § 21-5-3. The Court found that the two statutes needed to be construed together to determine whether an employer is included in the words “to another.” It recognized that “use of the word ‘deductions,’ as defined throughout these two statutes, is a *clear demonstration by the legislature that it was contemplating employers when it imposed restrictions on the assignment of future earnings.*” *Clendenin*, 172 W. Va. at 380, 305 S.E.2d at 337 (emphasis added). Specifically, the WPCA defined deductions as “amounts required by law to be withheld, and amounts authorized for union or club dues, pension plans, payroll savings plans, credit unions, charities and hospitalization and medical insurance” and “[s]imilar language appears in [the CCPA].” *Id.* Further, as the *Clendenin* Court observed, the “types of matters included within the term ‘deductions’ are those which are *generally associated with employer/employee relationships.*” Therefore, [the Court] believe[d] it sound to conclude that *employers are subject to W. Va. Code, 46A-2-116(2)(b) [1974], and W. Va. Code, 21-5-3 [1979].*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Because the reduction of an outstanding credit balance was not one of the “specifically enumerated categories of common employment deductions,” the Court found that the agreement between the parties in *Clendenin* was, in fact, an assignment of wages subject to the WPCA. *Id.*, 172 W. Va. at 380-81, 305 S.E.2d at 337-38. Furthermore, “the “phrase ‘to another’ as used in the definition of an assignment of earnings under [the CCPA], includes an employer when that employer is also the creditor of the employee.” *Id.*, 172 W. Va. at 381, 305 S.E.2d at 338.

Here, Fairmont Tool unlawfully assigned wages without valid, written assignment forms in connection with, among other things, boots and uniforms that Davis and other class members were required to have for their work. The published decisions handed down by this Court, including *Clendenin* and its progeny, make it very clear that these types of transactions fall within the scope of the WPCA’s wage-assignment provision.



For example, in *Jones, supra*, this Court addressed a wage assignment claim involving Jamaican orchard workers. The Court found that the employer was subject to the WPCA's wage assignment rules when it withheld a portion of the workers' wages to pay for insurance premiums, actual meal costs, costs advanced for transportation, and future repatriation costs. There was no discussion of whether the employer was acting as a creditor via this arrangement. Indeed, these deductions could not possibly be seen as arising from a debtor/creditor transaction. The *Jones* Court, nevertheless, found that the employer had failed to comply with any of the requirements of the wage assignment statute and, therefore, "violated the terms and conditions of W. Va. Code, 21-5-3." *Jones*, 179 W. Va. at 223, 366 S.E.2d at 731. Significantly, *Jones* also made clear the Legislature's intent to identify *specific, mandatory requirements* for assigning wages:

The history of the Code provisions on wage assignments shows a deliberate, legislative intent to allow assignment of wages *if, and only if, certain specified conditions are met*. From the initial provisions allowing unfettered assignment of wages, the legislature has changed the law of West Virginia to permit only limited assignments, and then *only when clearly defined legislative formalities are observed*. Based on the legislative history of the Wage Payment and Collection Act, we hold that compliance with all requirements of the Act *is mandatory* when assigning an employee's wages.

(Emphasis added.)

Similarly, in *Robertson, supra*, this Court affirmed a trial court ruling that deductions from commissions paid to salespeople at a car dealership were invalid wage assignments. The dealership deducted amounts for credit card charges relating to the sale and for post-sale vehicle repairs. The trial court found that these withholdings were illegal because the plaintiff had "never executed valid wage assignments for these charges as required by the Act." *Robertson*, 205 W. Va. at 567, 519 S.E.2d at 850. The deductions in *Robertson* were akin to those at issue in this case. The Court rejected the dealership's argument that "deductions for credit card sales are not wage assignments,

but instead reflect a calculation of the commission.” *Id.* In rejecting the dealership’s argument, the Court again stressed that the WPCA “***demand*s strict adherence.**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

These cases make clear that the *Clendenin* Court did not narrowly define the class of employer/employee assignments to those where the employer is functioning as a creditor in a sale of goods to the employee. Rather, the creditor/debtor employment relationship in *Clendenin* was merely one of the possible ways that a transaction could be subject to the wage-assignment provisions. If the deduction from an employee’s wages (1) is not required by law and (2) does not appear on the list of statutorily-approved deductions in W. Va. Code § 21-5-3, then the deduction is an assignment of wages under West Virginia law. Thus, there is no question that the assignment provision of the WPCA applies to the facts of this case. The trial court in this case was absolutely correct in concluding that Fairmont Tool violated the WPCA.

**2. The *Rotruck* case, a memorandum decision, does not correctly state West Virginia law and is distinguishable from the present case.**

In an effort to essentially eviscerate the WPCA’s wage-assignment provision, Fairmont Tool relies entirely on an unpublished memorandum decision, *Rotruck v. Smith*, No. 14-1284, 2016 WL 547190 (W. Va. Feb. 10, 2016), for its theory that an employer *must* be a creditor for a transaction to qualify as an assignment of wages. Fairmont Tool’s reliance on *Rotruck* is misplaced. First, the *Rotruck* decision is an unpublished opinion with limited precedential value. Because *Rotruck* clearly conflicts with this Court’s published opinions, it must be disregarded. Syl. pt. 5, *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014) (“while memorandum decisions may be cited as legal authority, and are legal precedent, their value as precedent is necessarily more limited; where a conflict exists between a published opinion and a memorandum decision, the published opinion controls”); *see also Henry v. Benyo*, 203 W.

Va. 172, 176 n.3, 506 S.E.2d 615, 619 n.3 (1998) (hesitating to “rely upon decisions which the issuing court has not deemed suitable for official publication”).

Second, the Court in *Rotruck* reached its conclusion that liability hinged on the employer’s status as a “creditor” without considering the broader legislative intent—i.e., *that employer/employee relationships are covered by the WPCA*. Put another way, *Clendenin* established that “employers” are among those who are subject to the WPCA’s wage assignment provisions. Whenever an employer requires one of its employees to accept a wage reduction in payment of amounts that are due to the employer, the WPCA comes into play. This can take the form of an actual sale of goods, like *Clendenin*, or any other payroll deduction that is not specifically authorized by W. Va. Code § 21-5-3. Again, to the extent that the memorandum decision in *Rotruck* conflicts with the published decision in *Clendenin*, the “published opinion controls.” See *In re T.O.*, 238 W. Va. 455, 796 S.E.2d 564, 573 (2017).

Third, the facts in *Rotruck* did not involve an employer that was making regular and systematic wage reductions. Instead, *Rotruck* involved an unusual situation in which the employer was essentially making gifts in the form of wage advances to a single employee. Essentially, Fairmont Tool wants to apply *Rotruck* as the general rule when, at best, it was a narrow, fact-specific holding in a single case. Accepting Fairmont Tool’s reading of the WPCA would pervert the legislature’s intent by taking an outlier case and using it to upset 35 years of law to the contrary.

In short, Fairmont Tool’s interpretation of the WPCA flies in the face of any liberal, or even logical, construction of the statute. There is no dispute that Fairmont Tool routinely assigned a portion of its employees’ wages to itself. Under *Clendenin*, *Jones*, and *Robertson*, these transactions are treated as assignments of wages for WPCA purposes. The trial court’s ruling regarding liability in the present case should, therefore, be affirmed.

**3. Even if Davis was required to prove Fairmont Tool's status as a creditor for purposes of W. Va. Code 21-5-3, the undisputed evidence showed that Fairmont Tool was extending credit to its employees, including Davis, and was recouping that debt.**

Even if this Court were to somehow determine that the wage assignment provisions found in W. Va. Code § 21-5-3 are only applicable to an employer that is acting as a creditor in a sale of goods, Fairmont Tool cannot avoid the trial court's inescapable conclusion that it was a creditor with respect to the uniforms, boots, and other items purchased by Davis and the rest of the class. AR 1959-1961. Jamie Kelley's<sup>5</sup> testimony, in particular, confirmed Fairmont Tool was "essentially extending credit to the employees" and was "recouping debts" by making deductions from their wages. AR 1439-1444. There is no doubt that by making those wage deductions, Fairmont Tool was acting as creditor. As the trial court recognized: "[L]ike a credit-card company, Defendant willingly stepped into the role of a creditor. Defendant had direct access to its employees' wages, including the wages of Plaintiff and the other class members, and Defendant used that position of power to recoup money from its employees, including Plaintiff and the other class members, in the form of wage assignments. AR 161950.

Consequently, even accepting Fairmont Tool's argument that employers are only subject to W.Va. Code § 21-5-3 if they are creditors, the trial court correctly found Fairmont Tool was acting as a creditor by making the wage deductions at issue in this case. Thus, even if this Court applies a creditor analysis, the trial court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

---

<sup>5</sup> As noted above, Jamie Kelley was the Fairmont Tool employee primarily responsible for company payroll and human resources. AR 867-868.

**B. The trial court correctly enforced the parties' stipulations regarding damages and entered judgment accordingly.**

**1. The stipulations freely entered into by the parties provide a sufficient, independent basis for the trial court's award of liquidated damages.**

Next, Fairmont Tool argues that the liquidated damages provision found in W. Va. Code § 21-5-4(e) is limited to termination-of-employment cases and, therefore, does not apply to wage assignment cases. Although Fairmont Tool is wrong, the Court does not need to decide that issue. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in enforcing the parties' stipulations regarding damages; thus, the parties' agreed-upon framework for applying damages was properly applied.

In reality, this entire assignment of error is simply another attempt by Fairmont Tool to escape the effects of the stipulations that it made and submitted to the trial court. AR 123. As explained in Section E, *infra*, these stipulations were meant to provide a methodology for calculating class damages, thereby eliminating any future risk or uncertainty in that regard. The stipulations were the product of ongoing negotiations between counsel. AR3407-3426. Once counsel reached an agreement, the stipulations were properly filed in the underlying civil action.

When the trial court entered its damages order on November 7, 2019, it did not engage in any interpretation of W. Va. Code §§ 21-5-3 or 21-5-4. The order emphatically states that liquidated damages were being awarded "as provided for in the stipulation" and that they were being "calculated in accordance with the parties' stipulation." AR 3475 (Judgment Order, at ¶ 24-25). Because the trial court did not apply W. Va. Code §§ 21-5-3 or 21-5-4 in rendering its judgment on damages, Fairmont Tool cannot properly assign that as error. Instead, Fairmont Tool is attacking its own stipulations. For the reasons set forth more fully in Section E, those stipulations are binding. Fairmont Tool cannot simply change its mind and seek relief from their binding effect.

**2. Even if this Court addresses the issue of statutory construction, liquidated damages are recoverable in a wage-assignment claim arising under W. Va. Code § 21-5-3.**

Even if this Court were to consider the viability of liquidated damages under the WPCA with regard to the violations at issue, there is ample support for awarding such damages for wage-assignment violations under W. Va. Code § 21-5-3. Fairmont Tool notes the language authorizing liquidated damages only appears in W. Va. Code § 21-5-4, which applies to cases involving employment terminations. Because the same language does not appear in the companion provision, W. Va. Code § 21-5-3, Fairmont Tool argues liquidated damages are “expressly and contextually . . . limit[ed] to unpaid wages after separation from employment.” Pet’r’s Br. 20.

But this argument overlooks the remedial purpose of the WPCA and this Court’s admonition that the WPCA must be interpreted liberally. The WPCA is meant to “protect working people and assist them in collection of compensation wrongly withheld.” Syl. pt. 3, *Jones, supra*. The goal, then, of the WPCA is to provide the fullest possible remedy to ensure that employees are fully compensated for their losses and that employers are punished for their violations.

It is necessary to “review [an] act or statute in its entirety to ascertain legislative intent properly.” Syl. pt. 5, in part, *Fruehauf Corp. v. Huntington Moving & Storage Co.*, 159 W. Va. 14, 217 S.E.2d 907 (1975). Thus, “[s]tatutes which relate to the same subject matter should be read and applied together so that the Legislature’s intention can be gathered from the whole of the enactments.” Syl. pt. 3, *Smith v. State Workmen’s Comp. Comm’r*, 159 W. Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975). Equally important is the principle that a statute should not be interpreted to reach an absurd or unjust result. “Where a particular construction of a statute would result in an absurdity, some other reasonable construction, which will not produce such absurdity, will be made.” Syl. pt. 2, *Newhart v. Pennybacker*, 120 W. Va. 774, 200 S.E. 350 (1938). It is “the duty of a court to disregard a construction, though apparently warranted by the literal sense of the words in a statute,

when such construction would lead to injustice and absurdity.” Syl. pt. 2, *Conseco Fin. Serv’g Corp. v. Myers*, 211 W. Va. 631, 567 S.E.2d 641 (2002).

Consider a case in which A’s employment is terminated. Thereafter, A successfully proves that his former employer, B, improperly assigned his wages in violation of W. Va. Code § 21-5-3. A is, therefore, entitled to recover all of his wages, including those wages that were covered by the assignment. Furthermore, A is entitled to liquidated damages based on the full amount of his improperly assigned wages. A’s remedy for B’s wage-assignment violation will be the full amount of the wrongfully-deducted wages plus liquidated damages, in addition to pre-judgment interest.

Taking into consideration the remedial purpose of the WPCA, it makes no sense to afford a lesser remedy to a similarly-situated employee whose wages have also been improperly assigned by the employer but who has not been terminated. In the present case, for example, some of the class members are *current* employees who are still on Fairmont Tool’s payroll. The wage assignment violations (which occurred during the period between July 1, 2012, and July 31, 2017) are just as real for them, and the effects are just as devastating. Treating these two groups of employees differently makes no sense and frustrates the WPCA’s purpose—particularly in a case, such as the present one, where Fairmont Tool has not raised as an assignment of error on appeal any argument that Davis, a former Fairmont Tool employee, is not an adequate class representative of current Fairmont Tool employees. Indeed, it would leave one of the two groups with a substantially-lesser remedy. Under time-honored rules of construction, the provisions of W. Va. Code § 21-5-3 and W. Va. Code § 21-5-4 must be read together, and the remedy expressly codified in W. Va. Code § 21-5-4 must be interpreted so that all class members who were aggrieved by wage-assignment violations will be treated equally and will receive full compensation, including liquidated damages. Any other interpretation would lead to a result that fully compensates some

injured employees, but deprives others of the WPCA's fully remedial effect.

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